Fig. 1: The original of this engraving was made in 1755 for a special edition of Stow's Survey of
London, The viewpoint is from the east, showing in the foregroond the subsidiary courtvard next
to the Flect. The Grand Staircase is in the lefl foreground topped by o belfry and slongside it the
srall paieway pave access o the priocipal courtyard o the bockground. Tty syovmetrical facade
clearly indicates that it is the rebuild referred to. However, the dripstones over the windows and
the four-centred arches in the suhsidiary courtyard are Twdor Gothic and likely fo be original.

Bridewell Palace

DEREK GADD
ALAN THOMPSON

“Your Bridewell? that the name!? for beauty, strength
Capacitv and forme of ancient building,

{Besides the Rivers nelghbouwrhood) few houses

Wiherein we keepe our Cowrtd can befter it."’

Thomes Dekker, “The Honest Whore™, Part 2, Act ¥, scene ii

DURING THE FIRST HALF of 1978 two sites  [Lid, permitted a two month programme that in-
in the known wvicinity of Henry VIII's Bridewell volved rapid clearance, some limited excavation and
Palace became available for investigation. At 9-11 a machine trench. It revealed the palace’s massive
Bridewell Place the developers. Haslemere Estates brick foundations but although a fairly large site

1. Infroduction and 9-11 Bridewell Place by D, Gadd, logy of the Museum of London, with considerable
1-3 Tudor Strect by Alan Thompson, assistance from the City of London  Archaeological

2. Underiaken by the Department of Urban Archaeo- Society.
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Fig. 2: The overall plan of the palace is based on
that prepared by Howard Celvin, but incorporating
the recently excavated evidence. The principal court-
vard is taken from the 1791 survey and the evidence
from the 9-11 Bridewell Place site. The sowthern
courfyard is based on the guestionnable representa-
tions in Apas’ and Hoefnagel’s maps and the Tudor
Street evidence while the subsidiary courtyard is
largely comjectwral, The waterfront is reconstructed
from Leake's map of 1666 and a presumed revel-
ment wall called the (ld Fleet Wall recorded on

the alteration plans of Blackfriars House (1973)

(Drawn by Alison Balfour-Lynn)

{35 x 15m or 115 x 50ft) it comprised only _abﬂut
five per cent of its total area. The other site at
1-3 Tudor Street* was a watching brief, conducted
over a period of months, which produced further
fragments of foundations, These could be related
to the Bridewell Place evidence and, using existing
cartographic and pictorial sources, suggest the over-
all plar of the palace (Fig. 2).

The palace is known to have been built between
1515 and e 1523, The need for it arose when fires
destroyed both the old palace of Westminster and
the Royal apartments in the Tower in 1512 leaving
the King without a useable residence in his capital
city. Tt remained Henry’s principal palace for some
vears during which time it saw some notable events.
In 1522 shorily before the palace was completed it
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provided accommodation for the entourage of
nobles accompanying the Emperor Charles V' on
his visit to London. Six wears later Henry and
Katherine of Aragon stayed there while the papal
legates deliberated on their divorce proceedings in
the house of the Blacklriars on the other side of
the Fleet. Most of Act 11 of Shakespeare’s Hernry
VI which concerns those events is set in Bride-
well. With Waolsey's fall from grace in 1529 his
palaces at York Place (Whitchall) and Hampton
Court came into the possession of the King and
Bridewell was given over to those ambassadors,
mainly French, whom the King wished especially
to favour. It was at that time that Hans Holoeich the
younger painted his famous portrait The Anmbas-
sadors there, Its brief history as a roval palace was
brought to an end in 1533 by Henry's son Edward
W1 who gave it to the city as a workhouse, prompt-
ing Dekker's epigram quoted at the end of the art-
icle. Before its complete demolition in 1863 its uscs
varied between hospital, prison, house of correction
and warehouse,

Recent comprehensive work by Howard Colvin
on the documentary evidence has done much to
clarify the misconceptions of earlier writers’ and
has resulted in an excellent synthesis®. Unfortunat-
ely, though, the number of documents that have
come down to us is small, There are no detailed
building accounts, only a few estimates and ac-
counts in the State Papers. Likewise the pictorial
representations are not particularly useful. The pro-
spect views from the maps of Agas (1561-70) and
Hoefnagel (c. 1572) appear to show the whole pal-
ace but are sketchy and unreliable, while the ear-
liest detailed engraving (Fig. 1) shows only a small
amount of the original palace. The most useful
piece of evidence is a room-by-room survey made
in 1791 (Fig. 3) but the palace had undergone
wholesale modilication and re-building by then.
Most importantly it does not show the southern
gquadrangle which was destroyed in the Great Fire
of 1666 and not rebuilt. The palace was laid out
around two main courtyards (see Fig. 2): the prin-
cipal courtyard to the north with the Great Hall
along its southern side whence a Long Gallery ran
down to “two towers upon Thames™. These with
a high wall down the eastern side enclosed the

3 E. G. O'Donoghue, Bridewell Hospiial, (London 1923).
A 1. Copeland, F.5.A. 8ridewell Roval Hospital
{London 1888).

4, Howard Colvin (ed.), Hisiory of the
volume forthcoming.

5 From a repair account of 1534 gueted in Calvin
(ed.) op cit. An claborate struciure as depicled by
Apas and Hoefnagel, the two  towers refer 1o stair
turrets at the corners, ¢ither side of a large central
oriel window,

Kings Works,
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Fig. 3: The detailed survey of 1791 by which time much rebuilding had faken place and the sowthern
courivard which would have been off the page (io the left) hod disappeared compleiely.

southern courtyard. This type of double courtyard
layout is typical of Henry's palaces. To the east
and north additional domestic buildings fronted
onto the Fleet and Bride Lane forming a subsidiary
courtyard,

1-3 Tudor Street

The evidence forthcoming from the Tudor Street
walching brief consisted of several large fragments
of brickwork, positioned in such a fashion as to
suggest that a long gallery existed on the western
side of the southern courtyard {Fiz. 2}, and as dep-
icted on the maps of Agas and Hoefnagel

Brick foundations on the western side of the site
were carried on three arches running NS, whilst ¢

11m (376t} to the east two fragments of wall with-
out arches, ran in parallel alignment (Fig. 2). Bet-
ween the parallel lines, two further fragments of
foundation arches were located, the first orientated
WE and the second NS, both of which rested on
ain oak planking. The two parallel NS foundations
indicate the west and east external walls of the long
gallery, with the other arches representing intermed-
iate foundations supporting some form of internal
superstructural division (for which no other evi-
dence survived). Insertion of modern sewers and
concrete had removed further evidence for the
southward extension of the gallery, but at the south-
ern end of the site foundations were observed
orientated WE, which might represent the remains
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Fig. 4: The %11 Bridewell Place site looking sowth.
The two walls running the lengih of the site paral-
lel to each other are those of the palace, The arched
foundations are  just visible in the machine-cot
trench, {Photo: Joehn Bailey]

of a structure associated with the “two wowers upon
Thames™ mentioned above (sce Fig. 2).

The area associated with the mouth of the Fleet
had been subject — possibly from an early period
— to reclamation, and the archaeology at Tudor
Street has shown that from at least early medieval
times this practice was in operafion. lLeake’s map
of the City drawn in December 1666, shows an
extensive area on the western side of the Fleet
mouth, suthicient to create room for the southern
range of Bridewell Palace, which other evidence
trom Tudor Street demonstrates to be reclaimed
land. This circumstance is supplemented by the re-
mains of a substantial stone wall “0ld Fleet Wall™,
{located douring internal alterations to Blackfriars
Housz undertaken in 1973), which probably repre-
sents a revetment at the limit of the reclamation
(see Tig. 2)

9-11 Bridewell Place

The excavation revealed the foundations of both
walls of the southern end of the range on the easl
side of the principal courtvard (Fig. 4). The short
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Fig. 5: The foundations of 3 polygonal stair tureed
with its Reigate stone dressing. The palace wall is
top  right and the 17th cemtury  rebmild  which
“housed-in™ the stair turrel i35 bottom lefi,

(Photo: John Bailey)

length of wall running parallel to and just outside
the original wall (at top left in Fig. 4) is a seven-
teenth century rebuild. It “housed-in™ a polygonal
stair turret (Fig. 5). complete with its Reigate stone
dressing, which would have originally been a sym-
metrical projection. On the west side of the site

Fig. 6: This engraving made in 1804 looks SE and
is in effect a “cuf away” drawing of the part of the

palace whose foundations were cxcavaled on the

9-11 Bridewell Place site. The viewpaint is in the

principal courtyard with the Great Hall on the

right with the stair turret and the twa pactially dem-

olished walls those located on the site, ™Notc the

heifry (centre) which can alse he seen above the
CGrand Staircase in Fig, 1.




massive  arched fomndations of  ihe
palace walls were (rench-built from  the offsel on
which the scale is placed aod oever exposed in
thiz fashion. MNote the shoriog plank on the ex-

Fig. 7: The

treme left. {Phote; Jenny Orsmond)

the foundations of another stair turret were located
also much cut away, but courses of bricks placed
diagonally 1o the predominant orientation marked
the start of the lowermost steps of the spiral stair-
case. This staircase. situated in the SE corner of
the principal courtvard, is the one featured in an
engraving of 1806 (Fig. 6) at which date it still
retained its original fabric unlike the surrounding
walls with their haphazard collection of Georgian
windows in a by then much dilapidated palace.

The foundational technique employed was extre-
mely elaborate, no doubt in response to the unstable
nature of the river silts and the reclamation dump-
ing on which the palace was built. Documentary
evidence indicated that the land had hitherto been
waste-land, occasionally cultivated, but continually
needing building up by dumping (o prevent flooding
from the rising level of the Thames. A machine-cut
section through these pre-palace deposits was en-
tirely consistent with that sequenca. It was found that
several walls were built up from brick arcoss al-
most lm (about 3ft) across and with a span of
3m (nearly 1060} (Fig. 7). Some but not all of these
arches were sprung off “piles™ made up of a timber-
lined shaft up to 3m deep into which chalk blocks
had been rammed, These arched loundations had
been trench built and in some cases the “former™
for the arch had been created by leaving a hump
i the bottom of the foundation french (that on the
right in Fig. 7) and making up the correct shape
with a little sand. The “former™ for the arch on
the left was made vp of chalk blocks and sand.
Above the foundation level the brickwork was well
made in English bond with wide mortar joints
changing to English cross bond in some of the up-

Fig. 8&: The original surface of the principal eouwri-
vard can be seem between the polace wall and ihe
spoil-heap on the right,

(Phota: Trevor Hurst)

per courses. The bricks were typical of the period;
bright red in colour, without a frog and having av-
crage dimensions of 2in x 4in x 8lin (50 x 100 x
215mm). The walls themselves were over Im (3t
3in) thick. The only original surface to have surviv-
ed later cellaring was that of the principal courtvary
(Fig. B). It was of brick set on edge in a loose mat-
rix and was found to be sealed by a burnt layer.
This was likely to be the result of one of the many
major fires, including that of 1666, known to have
engulfed the palace buildings.

The most unusual archilectural feature was the
Grand Staircase (Fig. 2). Later drawings and plans
show its construction embodied several Tudor Goth-
ic motifs, but its attribution as original was un-
certain until the excavation revealed its foundations,
whare they joined those of the main palace walls, As
such it is one of the 2arliest staircases in England 1o
be designed for statz occasions, The Grand Staircase
would have given access to the first floor on which
all the most important rooms were situated. Along-
side it a galeway constituled the main entrance to
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the principal courtyard. From the cartographic
evidence and the small section of its foundations un-
covered at the extreme north end of the site this
seems o have been a modest structure: it is shown
as no more than a small plain doorway on the later
prints and drawings (Fig. 1). This represents a mar-
ked change of emphasis in the mode of entrance
at Bridewell by comparison with Henry’s other pal-
aces where the norm is an exagperated gatchouse
flanked by projecting turrets and with internal ac-
cess to the first floor.

Bridewell. like all Tudor palaces, would have
been laid out with two separate seguences of ap-
artments — one for the King and one for the
Queen — as well as a hall, chapel and the usual

domestic areas, kitchen, servants quarters, ete. The
repair account of 1534 makes it clear that the
King's lodgings were at the north end of the Long
Gallery, ie. on the western side of the principal
courlyard. The rooms in the excavated area would
then have been either part of the Queen’s apart-
ments or the domestic quarters, On the 1791 survey
a largae chaoel is shown backing onip the Grand
Staircase. The excavation showed that this was a
later feature, associated with the seventeenth century
rebuild. but an original predecessor was revealed on
a more northerly line. This formed a long narrow
room no mare than 4m (13f) wide behind the
Grand Staircase but it would seem unlikely that this
had served as a chapel in the original building,

“Thus {ortine can tosse the World,

A Prince’s court Is thus a prison now.”

Dekker, ibid,

Excavations & Post-Excavation work

City, by Museumn of London, Department of Urban
Archacology. A scrics of long term excavations, Enquiries
te Alison Balfour-Lynn, DUA, 71 Basinghall Street, E.C.2.
(=n06 19337475, For information on  post-excavation
work, contact Penny MacConnoran at this address.

Brentford, by West London Archacclogical Ficld Group.
Excavation aml progessing Enguiries o Alison Parnum.
T1-72 Brentford High Streel, Breniford, Middlesex, (01 -560
3RE0Y,

Fulham, by Fulham Archaeological Rescue Group.

Sandford Manor, Rewell Sirect (Mew Kings Road).
8, W.6, Excavation work in grounds of 17th century house,
traceable back to at least 14th century, hopefully will find
medieval and earlier occupation. Enguiries to Excavation
Director. C. E. Oliver, 18 Albany Court, Ashburnham
lliuad. Ham, Richmond, Surrey. (01-948 2633) or K. White-
TOLISE.

Fulham Palace, Bishops Avenue, Fulham Palace Road,
SW.6 Examination of existing buildings and research
work has revealed carlier buildings undermeath. Sundays
and some weekdays., Engquiries 1o Keith Whilehouse, §6
Clancarty Rosd, SW.6 (01.731 0338}

BlakesRedline/Esso and Hosebank Wharves, Stevenape
Road. SW.A. Llrgent rescoe work during redevelopment for
housing is producing evidence for occupation during MNeo-
lithic and medieval times. Some weekdavs and Saturdays,
Enquiries to Keith Whilchouse (a5 above)

Hammersmith, by Fulham Archacological Rescue Group.

Processing of prehistoric finds from Blakes Wharves and
medieval material from Fulham Palace. Toesdays, 7.30 p.m.
-1 pom., al Fulham Palace, Bishops Avenuve, Fulham
Palace Road, SW.6. Contact: Keith Whitchouse (see
Fulkzam).

Inner London Borovghs, by the Inner London Unit,
Several rescue sites in various arcas. Enquiries to Trene
Schwab (01-242 &62100),
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Kingston, by Kingsion - upon - Thames  Archacological
Sociely, Rescue sites in the town centre. Enguiries 1o
Marion Smith. Kingstan Museum, Fairfield Road, Kinas-
tan (O1-546 5386).

Morth-East  Grester London, by Passmore  Edwards
Muscum. Enquirics to Pai Wilkinson, Passmore Edwards
Museum, Romford Road, E.15. (01-534 4543

Poiney, by Wandsworth Historical Society. Two ncre
site at junction of Felsham Road and High Street lics on
Homan and medieval sertlements, Alternate weekends, En-

quiries to Michalas Farrant, 7 Coalecroft Rewd, 5.W.15.
{01-T88 DO 5),

Souwthwark, by Soulhwark and Lambelh Avrchacological
Excavation Committee, Several sites from the Roman
rerind anwards. Enguities to Harvey Sheldon, SLAEC.,
Port Medical Centre, English Grounds, Morgan’s Lane,
SE.] ZHT, (01-407 1989%).

Surrey, by Surrey Archacological Societv. Enguiries to
David Bird, County Archaeoclegical Officer, Planning De-
partment, County Hall, Kingsten, Surrey.

VYauxhall Pottery, by Southwark and Lambeth Archaeo-
logical Society, Excavation at weekends only. Processing of
exeavated matcral comtinues three mights & week. All
enguiries o 5.L.AS. oo Cuming Muscum, 155 Walworth
Road. SE.17_(01-703 3324).

GENERAL EXCAVATIONS

The Council  for  British  Archaeotegy  produces o
manhly Calendar of Excavations from March o Sept-
c'.'rib.;'r. L|'f.'|5'| i exird J'_'!'_uh:-' .:“ .-\-'-n':"'li':'hl'r m-lnl ol .l:.l-ljrl.lI J.'S.'l'l-f'!'
im Janwary  samearising  the main resalty of fieidwork.
Fhe Calendar pives details of extro-mural courses, swm-
mer schools, froinine excovations and sites where volun-
teers are aeeded. The aniuel subsoripiion s €300 posi-
free, which shoold be made payvalle to C.BA, N2 Ken-
ninglon Read, SE



